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U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION~RC FORM SliM PART 1 

(10-2011)" 
10CFR2.101 

SAFl!TY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION 

1. 	WCENSE!IlOCATlON INSPECTED: 2. NRClREGIONAL OFFICE 

Pennonl Associates, Inc. 

3602 Horizon DrIve, Suite 160 U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission 

King of Prussia, PA 19406 Region '. 2100 Renal•••nce Blvd, Suite 100 


King of Prussia, Pennsylvanta 19408-2113 

REPORT NUMBER(S) 2012..()()1 


3. DOCKET NUMBER(S) 14. WCENS! NUMBER(S) r5. DATE(S) OF INSPECTION 
03()..17570 37-17637-02 June 14, & June 20,2012 

UCENIII&: 

The inspection was an examination of the ac1MUes conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Nuclear 
Regulatory Commtnlon (NRC) rules and reguiallOns sod the conditions of your license. The inspection consisted ofaelecuve examlnallons of 
procedlQS lind representaUve recorda, interviews with penonneI. end observations by thelnspedor. The Inspectton Indlngs are 8$ follows: 

0 1. Based on the Inspecllon findings. no violations were Jclentifted. 

0 2. Previous vIoIallon(s) closed. 

3. The vIoIalion(s), specHIcaIIy dascribecllo you by the Inspector 8$ non-cIted violations. are not being clled becaU18 they were self..D klentllled, non-repeIItIve, and COIT8CtIve a<:tion was or Is being taken. and the remaining crtterla In the NRC Enton:ement POlIcy, to 

exerd.. dilctetion. were satisfied. 


Non-clted vlolatlon(s) were dlscusud Involving the folowlng requiramenl(s) and corrective actlon{s): 

4. Durtng this inspection, c::enaln of your actiVIties, as dascr1bed beloW and/or atta!:hed, were In violation of NRC requirements and are being00 	 cited In accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy. ThIs form Is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION. wI:Ileh may be subject to posting In 

ac:oordance with 10 CFR 19.11. (VIolations ar'Id correcUve ActIons) 


1. 	 10 CFR 20.2102(a){2) requiras, In part, that the licensee maintain records of the radiation protection 
program, Including audits and other reviews of program content and implementation. 

Contrary to the above, Pennoni Asloclates. Inc. did not maintain records of reviews of program content and 
Implementation for the years 2008. 2009, and 2010. The licensee stated that the requirement was not fully 
understood. The licensee took corrective actions In January 2012, by conducting and documenting a 
review of the program content and implementation for the year 2011, and. Implemented an automated 
reminder system to notify the RSO to perfonn and document program reviews. 

(continued on next page) 

Statement of Corrective Actions 
I h«eby state that, within 30 days, the actions deeaibed by me to the Inspector Will be taken to eorrec:t the VIOIaIIons Identified. ThIs statement of 
correcIIve actions Is made In accordance \vI1h the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken. correcUve steps wI1lch will be taken, 
did. when full compliance will be achieved). I understand that no furller written response to NRC Will be reqc.ired. unless specifically requested. 

TIt.. 	 Pftnted Name ./J IiUnaI)fIW Dat• 

UC&NHI'S RIPIU!SI!NTATM! lEeI c..oJ Irt"J J'. S ...".J41' j ~..e~ ./zo /'2­
NRC INSPECTOR <1/7~Scott Wilson 

/ 	 ~.J1i., '1,JI()j;JtJ/~ 
8RNtCH CHlIF Blake Welling 

L.~iliL b/z.o}ZOlz.. 
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NRC FORM 5I1M PART 2 	 U.s. NUCLISAR REGULATORY COMMISSION 
(104011) 
10 CFR U,01 

SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPUANCE INSPECTION 

1. LlceNSEEILOCATlON INSPECTED; 	 2. NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE 

Pennonl Associates, Inc. 
3602 Horizon Drive, Suite 160 U.S. Nuclear Regulatory CommissIon 
King of Prussia, PA 19406 Region 1,2100 RenalssaoC8 Blvd. Suit. 100 

King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19408-2713 

REPORT NUMBER(S) 	 2012''()()1 

3. 	COCKET NUMBER(S) 4. LICENSE NUMBER(S) 5. DATE{S) OF INSPECTION 

37-17637..Q2 June 14, & June 20, 2012030-17570 

(Continued) 

2. 	 NRC License 37-17637..Q~, Condition 16, requires. In part. that the licensee conduct a physical 
inventory every six months to account for aU sources andlor devices received and possessed under 
the license, and those records of inventories shall be maintained for 5 years. 

Contrary to the above, between January 2007 and January 2012, Pennoni Associates, Inc. did not 
conduct a physical inventory every six months. Specifically, Pennonl Associates, Inc. conducted 
physical inventories every twelve months for the years 2007. 2008, 2009. 2010, and 2011. The 
licensee stated that this violation was due to an oversight on their part. The licensee had already 
taken corrective actions by completing a physical inventory in January of 2012, and by implementing 
an automated reminder system to notify the RSO to perform inventories every sil( months. 
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